RECEIVED

Jun 21 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

App. Case No. 2022-000597

Suzan Garland.....Respondent,

vs.

Robert Cade, Christy Cade, and Roger Singleton,..... Defendants,

of Whom

Robert Cade and Christy Cade are the..... Appellants,

and Roger Singleton is aRespondent.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

S. Jahue Moore, SC Bar #4063
Moore Bradley Myers Law Firm, P.A.
1700 Sunset Boulevard (29169)
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160
Jake@mbmlawsc.com
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING ROGER SINGLETON'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AND IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT?**
- 2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW THE JURY TO VIEW THE PROPERTIES AT ISSUE IN THIS CASE?**
- 3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING THE TESTIMONY OF THE RESPONDENT'S EXPERT, WILLIAM MATTHEWS, PE?**
- 4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN SUBMITTING THE LEXINGTON COUNTY STORM-WATER STATUTE TO THE JURY?**
- 5. DID RESPONDENT FAIL TO ESTABLISH THAT ANY CONDUCT ON THE PART OF APPELLANTS PROXIMATELY CAUSED HER HARM?**
- 6. WAS THE JURY'S ACTUAL DAMAGE AWARD PROPER AND NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL?**
- 7. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN SUBMITTING THE ISSUE OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES TO THE JURY?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Suzan Garland initiated the above-referenced action with the filing of a Summons and Complaint in the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas on April 11, 2019. (Complaint dated April 11, 2019; R. pp. 12-16). Respondent's Complaint asserted causes of action against Appellants Robert Cade and Christy Cade for Gross Negligence, Trespass and Private Nuisance. (Complaint dated April 11, 2019; R. pp. 12-16). Appellants timely answered Respondent's Complaint. (Answer dated May 3, 2019; R. pp.17-18). Respondent subsequently amended her Complaint (Amended Complaint dated January 10, 2020, R. pp. 19-23) adding claims against Roger Singleton. Appellants Robert Cade and Christy Cade timely answered Respondent's Amended Complaint. (Answer to Amended Complaint dated January 23, 2020; R. p. 27). Roger Singleton answered the Amended Complaint. (Answer of Roger Singleton to Amended Complaint dated January 22, 2020; R. pp. 24-26). The parties engaged in pretrial discovery, including depositions and written discovery.

This case was mediated on July 20, 2021. During mediation, Respondent settled her claims as to Mr. Singleton for \$62,500.00. (Proof of ADR or Exemption dated July 26, 2021; R. pp. 37-38). The Respondent's claims against Appellants did not settle at mediation. (Proof of ADR or Exemption dated July 26, 2021; R. pp. 37-38). Subsequently, Appellants filed a Motion to add claims against Mr. Singleton. (Notice of Motion and Motion to Add Claim for Indemnification dated July 22, 2021; R. p.39). Respondent (along with Mr. Singleton) filed a Motion for Court Approval of Settlement. (Motion for Court Approval of Settlement; R. pp. 40-42). Appellants subsequently filed a Motion to supplement their Third-Party complaint to add claims for breach of warranty and neglect. (Motion to Supplement dated October 25, 2021; R. pp. 43-44). Mr. Singleton filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellants' Motion to Add Claims. (Defendant Roger

Singleton's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants Robert and Christy Cade's Motion to Add Claims; R. pp. 45-51).

These outstanding motions were heard by the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry IV, Presiding Judge of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit on November 1, 2021. On November 4, 2021, Judge DeBerry issued his Order allowing Appellants' cross claim against Roger Singleton. (Order Allowing Crossclaim and/or Third-Party Complaint dated November 4, 2021; R. pp. 9-11). Appellants subsequently filed their Third Party Summons and Complaint against Roger Singleton. (Third Party Summons and Complaint dated November 29, 2021; R. pp. 28-32). Roger Singleton filed his Answer to the Appellants' Third Party Complaint on January 6, 2022. (Defendant Roger Singleton's Answer to Third-Party Plaintiff's Complaint dated January 6, 2022; R. pp. 33-36).

The case was tried before the Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Presiding Judge of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit and a Jury from March 28, 2022, until March 31, 2022. (Transcript of Record, Pages 1 – 698; R. pp. 70-767). At the close of Respondent's case, counsel for Appellants moved for a Directed Verdict as to the Respondent's cause of action for Negligence. (Transcript of Record, Page 390, Lines 6-18; R. p. 459). Appellants' counsel also moved for a Directed Verdict as to Respondent's nuisance and trespass causes of action and as to damages. (Transcript of Record, Page 390, Lines 19 – Page 399, Line 12; R. pp. 459-468) (Transcript of Record, Page 401, Line 20 – Page 403, Line 10; R. pp. 470-472). These motions were denied by the Trial Court. (Transcript of Record, Page 404, Line 21 – Page 405, Line 12; R. pp. 473-747).

At the close of all of the evidence, counsel for Roger Singleton moved for a Directed Verdict. (Transcript of Record, Page 530, Lines 12 – Page 536, Line 23; R. pp. 599-605). The Trial Court granted Mr. Singleton's motion. (Transcript of Record, Page 536, Lines 22-24; R. p. 605). Counsel for Appellants also moved for a Directed Verdict. (Transcript of Record, Page 537, Line

21 – Page 539, Line 25; R. pp. 606-608). These motions were denied by the Trial Court. (Transcript of Record, Page 439, Lines 20-23; R. p. 508).

On March 31, 2022, the Jury returned a verdict on behalf of Respondent as to her claims for negligence and nuisance. (Verdict, R. pp. 52-53). (The jury found for Appellants as to Respondent’s claims for trespass. (Verdict; R. pp. 52-53). The jury awarded actual damages to Respondent of \$125,000.00 as to her claims for nuisance. (Verdict; R. pp. 52-53). Based on the verdict form returned by the jury, no damages were awarded as to Respondent’s negligence claims. (Verdict; R. pp. 52-53). The jury awarded Respondent \$8,000.00 in punitive damages. (Verdict; R. pp. 52-53).

Appellants timely filed their Motion for New Trial, New Trial NISI and Judgment notwithstanding the Verdict (JNOV) on April 6, 2022. (Motion for New Trial, New Trial NISI and JNOV dated April 6, 2022; R. pp. 54-59). On April 22, 2012, Judge McCaslin issued her Order denying all of the Appellants’ post trial motions. (Order of the Honorable Debra R. McCaslin dated April 22, 2022; R. pp. 1-5). Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on or about April 22, 2022. (Notice of Appeal; R. pp. 60-61).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves Respondent Suzan Garland and Appellants Robert Cade and Christy Cade. All parties are residents of Lexington County, South Carolina. Respondent Suzan Garland owns real property in Lexington County located at 105 Davis Drive, West Columbia, South Carolina 29172 and bearing tax map number 007899-01-022 (“the Garland Property”). There is an approximately two acre pond (“the Garland Pond”) on the Garland Property that Respondent has used for recreational purposes for decades. Appellants own real property in Lexington County

located on New Cassel Drive, West Columbia, South Carolina and bearing tax map number 007899-01-013 (“the Cade Property”), which they purchased in 2018. The Cade Property is uphill from the Garland Property in the same watershed. Upon acquiring the Cade Property, the Cades timbered their property, grubbed stumps, graded the soil, and planted seed. Appellants’ property is classified and zoned as agricultural. After purchasing the Cade Property in 2018, there were two hurricanes, Hurricane Michael and Hurricane Florence, which occurred and resulted in excessive and heavy amounts of water that rained on the properties.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Respondent Suzan Garland is the owner of thirteen (13) acres of land located at 106 Davis Drive in Lexington County, South Carolina. Ms. Garland and her late husband purchased the property in 1985. (Transcript of Record, Page 316, Lines 16-22; R. p. 385). Respondent’s property contains a 1200 square foot, 60 year old house, an 800 square foot building, a greenhouse, and a pond of approximately 2 acres. (Transcript of Record, Page 345, Lines 11-21; R. p. 414) (Transcript of Record, Page 132, Lines 3-11; R. p. 201). The pond is located approximately 200 feet from Davis Drive. (Transcript of Record, Page 357, Lines 13-15; R. p. 426). The pond, which varies in size, is fed almost entirely by runoff and rainwater. The pond needs runoff and rainwater to survive. (Transcript of Record, Page 94, Lines 15-18; R. p. 163). It takes water from whatever is upstream from it in the watershed. (Transcript of Record, Page 94, Lines 15-18; R. p. 163) (Transcript of Record, Page 141, Lines 16-19; R. p. 210) (Transcript of Record Page 345, Line 24 – Page 346, Line 4; R. p. 414-415). Like most ponds, the Respondent’s pond would naturally contain silt. (Transcript of Record, Page 96, Lines 3-12; R. p. 165). Natural silt is part of the aging process of a pond. (Transcript of Record, Page 96, Lines 3-12; R. p. 165). The Respondent’s property, including all improvements and the aforementioned pond, is valued for Lexington

County tax purposes at \$90,000.00. (Transcript of Record, Page 381, Line 19 – Page 383, Line 2; R. pp. 450-452) (Defendant’s Exhibit 33; R. p. 1325).

Appellants are the owners of 36 acres of rural property, located near, but not adjacent to Respondent’s property. (Transcript of Record, Page 488, Lines 20-24; R. p. 557). Appellants’ property does not adjoin the Respondent’s property. (Transcript of Record, Page 346, Lines 23-24; R. p. 415). The Appellants’ property actually abuts property owned by an individual named Paul Shearer, who also testified at trial via video. (Transcript of Record, Page 407; R. p. 476). The Cades’ property is separated from Respondent’s property by a 50 to 60 foot vegetated buffer, some wetlands, Mr. Shearer’s property, and Davis Drive (the road on which the Respondent lives) which would slow down the flow of any silt escaping Appellants’ property. (Transcript of Record, Page 300, Lines 12 – Page 301, Line 2; R. pp. 369-370). There is an 18 inch dirt berm that runs along Davis Drive, caused by the County scraping Davis Drive (which is a gravel/dirt road). (Transcript of Record, Page 348, Lines 23-25; R. p. 417). This dirt and sand berm is created by Lexington County scraping it in order to maintain it. (Transcript of Record, Page 349, Lines 7-12; R. p. 418). The berm runs the entire length of Respondent’s property. (Transcript of Record, Page 349, Line 24 – Page 350, Line 1; R. pp. 418-419). The jury heard testimony that this berm effectively acts as a diversion dam preventing the flow of water onto the Respondent’s property. (Transcript of Record, Page 305, Lines 5-11; R. p. 374). (Transcript of Record, Page 304, Lines 11-23; R. p. 373). As set forth below, this berm “blew out” during the 2018 hurricanes. (Transcript of Record, Page 84, Lines 5 – Page 85, Line 4; R. pp. 153-155). (Transcript of Record, Page 62, Lines 10-21; R. p. 131). (Transcript of Record, Page 372, Lines 15-17; R. p. 441). (Transcript of Video testimony Paul Shearer, Pages 36, Line 23 – Page 37, Line 13; R. pp.776-777). On the opposite side of Davis Drive (from the berm and opposite of Respondent’s property), there is a ditch.

(Transcript of Record, Page 349, Lines 13-15; R. p. 418). This ditch has been in existence the entire time that Respondent has owned her property. (Transcript of Record, Page 356, Lines 12-15; R. p. 425).

There is a drainage pipe that crosses under Davis Drive into the Respondent's property. (Transcript of Record, Page 350, Line 24 – Page 351, Line 10; R. pp. 419-420). This pipe comes off of Mr. Shearer's property and goes under Davis Drive. (Transcript of Record, Page 350, Lines 8-13; R. p. 419). Respondent testified that the pipe has been present since she purchased her property. (Transcript of Record, Page 351, Lines 14 – 19; R. p. 420). In addition, the pipe carries water from a natural spring off of Appellants' property. (Transcript of Record, Page 352, Lines 9-16; R. p. 421). This spring has fed into Respondent's pond during the entire time that she has lived on her property. Water from this pipe would be the only source of water into the Respondent's pond (other than natural rainwater). (Transcript of Record, Page 353, Lines 14-17; R. p. 422). The jury heard conflicting testimony from various witnesses as to whether or not this pipe under Davis Drive onto the Respondent's property is open or buried. (Transcript of Record, Page 92, Lines 7-23; R. p. 161) (Transcript of Record, Page 201, Lines 11-13; R. p. 270) (Transcript of Record, Page 466, Line 18 – Page 467, Line 5; R. pp. 535-536) (Transcript of Record, Page 495, Line 16 – Page 496, Line 4; R. pp. 565-565) (Transcript of Video Testimony Paul Shearer, Pages 29 – 33; R. pp. 775-776).

Appellants purchased their property in March of 2018. (Transcript of Record, Page 454, Lines 15-17; R. p. 523). When Appellants bought the property, which is zoned as Agricultural Property, the only improvement on it was a 3-4 acre rainwater fed pond. (Transcript of Record Page 494, Lines 7-20; R. p. 563). Like the Respondent's pond, it is fed by runoff from its watershed and by rainwater. (Transcript of Record, Page 494, Lines 7-10; R. p. 563) (Transcript of Record,

Page 416, Lines 19-23; R. p. 485). Appellants potentially planned to make improvements to their property (as outlined below) and then retire on it. (Transcript of Record, Page 454, Lines 18-20; R. p. 523).

Shortly after purchasing their property, Appellants learned that there were serious safety issues involving the pond's dam. (Transcript of Record, Page 457, Lines 14-20; R. p. 526) (Transcript of Record, Page 414, Line 14 – Page 415, Line 18; R. pp. 483-484). Appellants hired Roger Singleton to make the necessary repairs to the dam. (Transcript of Record, Page 457, Line 25 – Page 458, Line 6; R. pp. 526-257). Mr. Singleton's repairs involved repairing the spillway and re-coring the dam where it was leaking. (Transcript of Record, Page 493, Lines 21-23; R. p. 562) (Transcript of Record, Page 414, Lines 4-18; R. p. 483). After Mr. Singleton completed his work on the dam, Mr. Cade had someone come in and hydro-seed the work area. (Transcript of Record, Page 417, Line 13 – Page 418, Line 3; R. pp. 486-487) (Transcript of Record, Page 460, Lines 13-18; R. p. 529). The repairs to the dam took several weeks and were completed by Mr. Singleton prior to the hurricanes discussed below. (Transcript of Record, Page 458, Lines 7-13; R. p. 527) (Transcript of Record, Page 416, Lines 1-3; R. p. 485). The dam remained stable during the hurricanes. Mr. Singleton testified at trial that he was solely responsible for the repair work done to the dam. (Transcript of Record, Page 423, Lines 13-15; R. p. 492).

The Cades intended to convert a portion of their property to be used for the grazing of cattle. (Transcript of Record, Page 489, Lines 6-14; R. p. 558). They decided to turn a portion of the wooded part of their lands into pasture and hayfields. (Transcript of Record, Page 489, Lines 6-14; R. p. 558). These plans were consistent with the agricultural zoning of the Appellants' property. (Transcript of Record, Page 488, Line 23 – Page 489, Line 5; R. pp. 557-558). In order to convert a portion of their property to pasturelands, Appellants had to cut trees. (Transcript of

Record, Page 461 Lines 5-16; R. p. 530). They sold the timber to a timber buyer who retained loggers to cut trees. (Transcript of Record, Page 501, Lines 4-7; R. p. 570). No evidence was presented to the jury that the actual logging of their property by Appellants caused any harm to Respondent.

Appellants hired Mr. Singleton to remove the debris left by the loggers and to fill in the stumps and smooth out the land for the planting of grass and the creation of pastureland. (Transcript of Record, Page 423, Line 18 – Page 425, Line 6; R. pp. 492-494). Appellants testified that they paid Mr. Singleton approximately \$130,000.00 to perform this work on their property. (Transcript of Record, Page 491, Line 25 – Page 492, Line 1; R. p. 560-561). Because Appellants' property was zoned agricultural, he did not have to obtain any permit or put up any silt fencing or similar structures around the work area. (Transcript of Record, Page 424, Lines 9-17; R. p. 493) (Transcript of Record, Page 434, Lines 12-20; R. p. 503). Mr. Singleton removed all of the debris left by the loggers and dug up and filled in stumps. After clearing the land, he assisted Mr. Cade in seeding the area. (Transcript of Record, Page 424 Line 18 – Page 425, Line 11; R. pp. 494-494). Mr. Singleton testified that the land was seeded prior to the 2018 hurricanes. (Transcript of Record, Page 425, Lines 7-11; R. p. 494).

After clearing Appellants' pastures, Mr. Singleton left a 30-50 foot buffer that had originally been left by the loggers. (Transcript of Record, Page 426, Line 5- Page 427, Line 18; R. pp. 495-496). This buffer ran along the entire property line between Appellants and Mr. Shearer. The buffer area contained trees, pine straw and leaves. (Transcript of Record, Page 427, Lines 1-18; R. p. 496). Mr. Singleton testified that the work that he did on the property could not have silted Respondent's pond. (Transcript of Record, Page 432, Line 14 – Page 433, Line 2; R. pp. 501-502).

Appellants testified that all of the clearing work was performed by Mr. Singleton. (Transcript of Record, Page 430, Lines 5-7; R. p. 499). The Appellants testified that they paid Mr. Singleton for this work and relied upon him to do it correctly. (Transcript of Record, Page 461, Line 25 – Page 462, Line 8; R. pp. 530-531). Christy Cade testified that while she does not know if Mr. Singleton did anything wrong in the clearing of her property, he did the work and if anything was done wrong, it was done wrong by Mr. Singleton. (Transcript of Record, Page 483, Line 1-11; R. p. 552). Appellant Robert Cade also testified that if anyone did anything wrong in connection with the clearing of the land, it was Mr. Singleton because Mr. Singleton was hired to do the work (and did the work). (Transcript of Record, Page 492, Lines 9-11; R. p. 561) (Transcript of Record, Page 492, Lines 2-11; R. p. 561). Mr. Cade also testified that if anyone did anything “wrong” or incorrectly it was done by Mr. Singleton, since he did the work in question on the property. (Transcript of Record, Page 492, Lines 9-11; R. p. 561).

Prior to commencing any work, Appellants went to Lexington County to obtain necessary permits to work on their property. (Transcript of Record, Page 489, Line 15- Page 491, Line 7; R. pp. 558-560). Since the Appellants’ property was zoned for Agricultural use, no permit was required to remove the timber from Appellants’ property or to clear out the brush and stumps. (Transcript of Record, Page 489, Line 15 – Page 491, Line 7; R. pp. 558-560). In October of 2018, around the time of the two hurricanes, Lexington County received an anonymous complaint regarding the work going on Appellants’ property. (Transcript of Record Page 231, Lines 2-9; R. p. 300) (Transcript of Record, Page 239, Lines 15-18; R. p. 308). After receiving a complaint regarding the work being performed by Appellants on their property, Lexington County issued a stop work order on October 22, 2018. (Transcript of Record, Page 242, Lines 7-25; R. p. 311) (Transcript of Record, Page 245, Lines 20-25; R. p. 314) (Defendant’s Exhibit 31; R. p. 1323).

The Appellants did not know who filed the complaint, only that a complaint had been filed. The stop work order was lifted on the following day. (Transcript of Record, Page 252, Lines 1-3; R. p. 321) (Defendant's Exhibit 32; R. p. 1323). Appellants received no citations or fines. Appellants were requested to move forward with stabilization of their site to minimize impacts. (Defendant's Exhibit 32; R. p. 1324). No deadline was given for this work to be completed. Appellants received no further citations or any fine in connection with the work done on their property. (Transcript of Record, Page 198, Lines 10-17; R. p. 267) (Transcript of Record, Page 244, Lines 12-18; R. p. 313).

Shortly after the completion of Mr. Singleton's work on Appellants' property, the State of South Carolina and Lexington County suffered the impact of two storms/hurricanes, Hurricane Michael and Hurricane Florence. (Transcript of Record, Page 83, Lines 18-23; R. p. 152) (Transcript of Record, Page 85, Lines 8-10. R. p. 154). Flooding from the hurricanes "blew out" the 18 inch berm that ran along Davis Drive. (Transcript of Record, Page 84, Line 12 – Page 85, Line 7; R. pp. 153-154) (Defendant's Exhibit 3; R. p. 1204). The jury heard testimony that the only time any significant water flowed down the watershed from Appellants' property to Respondent's property was during and after these two storms.

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