RECEIVED

Aug 07 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000597

Case No. 2019-CP-32-01442

Suzan Garland, Respondent,

v.

Robert Cade, Christy Cade, and Roger Singleton Defendants.

of whom

Robert Cade and Christy Cade are the Appellants,

and Roger Singleton is a Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SUZAN GARLAND

H. Freeman Belser [SC Bar No. 72403]
Michael J. Polk [SC Bar No. 6932]
Creston W. Brown [SC Bar No. 104086]
Belser Law Firm, PA
Post Office Box 96
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 929-0096

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

In this case, Appellants failed to provide the trial court with evidence of a breach of contract or negligence. Appellant Christy Cade admitted that she had absolutely no problems with any of Singleton's work, and she had no idea if there was any evidence that Singleton did anything wrong. R. p. 551, lines 8-23. Appellant Robert Cade testified that he was satisfied with Singleton's work, and the only reason he sued Singleton was

“because his lawyer told him to.” R. p. 595, lines 11-24. He then admitted he had no evidence that Singleton did anything wrong. R. p. 596, lines 8-12.

Appellants argue that if Singleton is not liable to them, then Appellants are not liable to Respondent. This argument is misplaced. Appellants ignore that Singleton was not the only person that worked on Appellants’ property. On page 14 of Appellants’ brief, they state “Mr. Singleton testified that other than cutting trees or constructing the Appellant’s farm buildings, he did all of the work on their property.” To the contrary, this statement sums up the reason the trial court ruled in favor of Singleton and Respondent. As admitted by Appellants, most of the clearing work was not done by Singleton.

The record shows that: Appellants decided to use *other* persons/businesses to clear their land. Appellants decided to erect structures on their property. Appellants decided to ignore permitting requirements. Appellants ignored Lexington County at best and intentionally deceived Lexington County at worst. Appellants were the ones that harassed and threatened Respondent, not Singleton. Appellants decided not to stabilize their property in a timely manner or take any steps to eliminate offsite impacts. These were all actions and inactions attributable to Appellants themselves, not to Singleton.

No evidence existed to show that Singleton breached any contract with Appellants. Nor was there any evidence of any actionable negligence by Singleton towards Appellants. At bottom, there is no reason, as between Singleton and Appellants, that Appellants’ causes of action should stand, hence the reason the Court dismissed those claims.

On the other hand, Appellants’ actions of cutting trees, constructing farm buildings, and failing to take proper measures – or any timely measures for that matter – to stabilize

their property or take any measures to eliminate offsite impacts, were the exclusive result of Appellants actions and inactions. At trial, counsel for Singleton neatly summarized these indisputably facts when arguing in favor of a directed verdict: “[Appellants] did lots of things, Your Honor. They got permits [to build the house and other structures]. They maybe didn’t get the right permits [in that they failed to get a land disturbance permit]. They had some other company come and clear the land. They decided what the buffer would be.” R. p. 605, lines 14-21.

The report of Mr. Lee, the engineer hired by Appellants, is damning. As set forth in the statement of facts above, Mr. Lee reported the following to Appellants:

- “The purpose of this report was to determine if the clearing of the property could be contributing to the alleged adverse impact to the pond downstream. The short answer is yes.” R. p. 240, lines 11-14 (emphasis added); R. p. 1326.
- “This is an environmental impact that directly affects the health of the pond.” R. p. 242, lines 16-23; R. p. 1326.
- “A majority of the site drains directly into the wetlands below the pond with no sediment control measures in place to control the loss of soil.” R. p. 1326.
- “*To avoid litigation from the downstream property owner* you should work with the County to bring the site into a compliant and stable condition.” Id. (emphasis added).

A more detailed discussion of the damages proximately caused by Appellants is set forth below in Section V. Suffice it to say, though, the Court properly ruled on both directed verdict motions.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED APPELLANTS’ REQUEST THAT THE JURY VIEW THE PROPERTIES AT ISSUE BECAUSE THERE

WERE NUMEROUS PICTURES AND DRONE FOOTAGE IN THE RECORD AND THE REQUEST WAS THEREAFTER ABANDONED BY APPELLANTS.

Appellants moved to allow the jury to view Appellants' and Respondent's property. R. p. 413, lines 2-3. The trial court denied this motion, noting there were many photographs in evidence, including those taken by Mr. Lee, who had been hired by Appellants in the first place. R. p. 413, lines 4-19. Appellants' attorney then asked the trial court to postpone ruling on the motion until the following morning so that he could provide legal authority to support Appellants' motion, and the trial court agreed to revisit the issue. R. p. 413, lines 20-25. Appellants' counsel subsequently failed to produce any legal authority to the trial court. Thus, Appellants' arguments made in the briefing before this appellate court are the first instance of such arguments being made.

Moreover, a review of the record indicates Appellants' attorney intentionally abandoned his request for a site visit. Specifically, Appellants' attorney, after making the motion for a site visit, introduced previously undisclosed drone footage and stated ". . . we're not gonna to take the jury out to your home to look at it" R. p. 536, 6-17. After Appellants introduced the previously undisclosed drone footage, there is no further mention of the motion in the record, as Appellants' attorney abandoned his request for a site visit. Therefore, the trial court did not err.

Regardless, either on the merits, or due to the abandonment by Appellants, the trial court properly denied Appellants' motion to view the property.

S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1320 provides that a request for a jury to view the place in question should be granted when "it appears to the court that such view is necessary to a just decision". Although jury views are permitted by statute in South Carolina, they are

left to the discretion of the trial judge. Sturkie v. Constance, 309 S.C. 526, 424 S.E.2d 545 (Ct. App. 1992). The trial court's decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. Kincaid v. Landing Development Corp., 289 S.C. 89, 344 S.E.2d 869 (Ct. App. 1986).

In this case, there were numerous photographs and drone footage of the properties at issue. The seminal case on this issue, Sturkie, 309 S.C. at 528–29, 424 S.E.2d at 546, is instructive. In Sturkie, the plaintiff was a housecleaner who stepped on the corner of a rug, slipped, fell, and was injured. At trial, the plaintiff moved for the jury to view the premises, stating that the combination of the hardwood floor and the rug was a “critical operative fact”. The court of appeals held that there was no abuse of discretion when the lower court denied the motion to view. The court of appeals found that there were several photographs of the scene admitted into evidence, as well as evidence that the hardwood floors were slick, and the rugs tended to slip. The court of appeals noted that merely the fact that there is evidence to the contrary does not necessitate a jury view.

In this case, as noted above, there were hundreds of photographs entered into evidence, as well as drone footage, expert reports, and maps. There was no basis for a site visit at the time of Appellants' motion. Substantively, the trial court properly denied the motion.

Additionally, until after trial, Appellants abandoned the motion. Appellants asked for – and received – additional time to submit authority and allow the judge to revisit the issue. Instead, Appellants' attorney stated, while questioning one his clients, that they were not going to make a site visit. Apparently, as a trial strategy, Appellants decided to

rely on previously undisclosed drone footage that was sprung on the trial court, Respondent, and Singleton.

Either substantively, or by virtue of abandonment of the request to view the property, there was no abuse of discretion by the trial judge.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED TESTIMONY OF THE RESPONDENT'S EXPERT, WILLIAM MATTHEWS, PE, BECAUSE THE TESTIMONY WAS PROPER, AND THERE WAS NO CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION TO IT.

Appellants complain on appeal about the testimony of Mr. Matthews, an expert witness for Respondent. The testimony was proper, and, because Appellants failed to contemporaneously object to its admission, they waived the right to object on appeal.

Expert qualification and admissibility of expert testimony are matters largely within the discretion of the trial judge. Creed v. City of Columbia, 310 S.C. 342, 426 S.E.2d 785 (1993); See also Love v. Gamble, 316 S.C. 203, 448 S.E.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1994) (the admission or exclusion of evidence, including the decision to qualify a witness as an expert, resides in the sound discretion of the trial judge).

Counsel waives the right to appeal the introduction of evidence if there is no objection to admissibility. Calcutt v. Calcutt, 282 S.C. 565, 320 S.E.2d 55 (Ct. App. 1984). Generally, questions concerning the admissibility or exclusion of evidence cannot be raised on appeal if there was no objection when the evidence is offered. Branton v. Martin, 243 S.C. 90, 132 S.E.2d 285 (1963). Cogdill v. Watson, 289 S.C. 531, 347 S.E.2d 126 (Ct. App. 1986).

The Court qualified Mr. Matthews as an expert witness in civil engineering and geotechnical engineering. R. p. 342, lines 17-25. Appellants did not object. R. p. 342, lines 20-23. Appellants did not voir dire the witness. The trial court informed the jury it

was free to give Mr. Matthews testimony whatever weight it saw fit, and that the jury did not have to accept it. R. p. 342, line 24 - p. 343, line 3.

Respondent's attorney questioned Mr. Matthews, and Appellants' counsel did not object to any of the direct testimony given by Mr. Matthews. R. p. 338, line 21 - p. 351, line 6. On cross, Appellants elicited testimony about the expert's time sheets and implied that Respondent had withheld information in the expert's file. However, Respondent submitted everything he received from the expert, and nothing was withheld. Apparently, Appellants, after failing to take Mr. Matthews' deposition prior to trial, after failing to object to the testimony in a timely manner, after failing to voir dire Mr. Matthews, and after failing to subpoena Mr. Matthews' file, are attempting to shift blame and ask the court of appeals for a second bite at the apple. This request must be denied.

Appellants' brief states that Appellants' counsel raised the prejudicial nature of some of the testimony, but there was no objection to it at the proper time. Further, the documents complained about, the expert's time sheets, had nothing to do with the expert's opinions and testimony. It appears, as a matter of trial strategy, Appellants' counsel tried to discredit or attack the weight of Mr. Matthews' testimony by accusing him, during his direct examination, of being paid in exchange for his testimony, R. p. 368, lines 18-22; R. p. 380, lines 18-21, and making disparaging comments about Mr. Matthews throughout Appellants' closing argument. R. p. 698, line 20 - p. 699, line 5.

In sum, Appellants failed to subpoena Mr. Matthews' file and now complain they do not know what was in it. Appellants failed to depose Mr. Matthews and now complain they were unaware what his testimony would be. Appellants failed to voir dire Mr. Matthews and now complain he was allowed to testify as an expert witness. Most

importantly, ostensibly as trial strategy, Appellants failed to object to any of Mr. Matthews testimony, instead attempting to undermine his credibility with a series of blistering personal attacks that the jury seemingly ignored.

This Court should reject Appellants' argument because it is meritless.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUBMITTED THE LEXINGTON COUNTY STORMWATER ORDINANCE TO THE JURY BECAUSE APPELLANTS NOT ONLY FAILED TO OBJECT BUT ALSO SPECIFICALLY APPROVED ITS SUBMISSION.

Because Appellants' counsel approved the submission of the jury charge, this ground for appeal should be rejected.

Counsel must object to an instruction out of the hearing of the jury, and before they retire to consider a verdict, or the objection is waived. Rule 51, SCRCP; see also Thomas-McCain, Inc. v. Siter, 268 S.C. 193, 232 S.E.2d 728 (1977) (a party who fails to call error to the attention of the trial judge at the conclusion of the jury charge, and in absence of the jury, cannot later complain). Failure to object to a jury charge makes it the law of the case. Toyota of Florence, Inc. v. Lynch, 314 S.C. 257, 442 S.E.2d 611 (1994) (where there is no objection to a jury charge, it is the law of the case); Orangeburg Sausage Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 316 S.C. 331, 450 S.E.2d 66 (Ct. App. 1994)

Appellants imply that the trial court erred in denying their motion for directed verdict on the applicability of the Stormwater Ordinance in question. Using the standard recited above, that the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, Minter v. GOCT, Inc., 322 S.C. 525, 527, 473 S.E.2d 67, 69 (Ct. App. 1996), the trial court properly denied Appellants' motion.

Lexington County Code of Ordinances # 16-04 (the "Stormwater Ordinance") reads in pertinent part:

Sec. 1-5(a) states that the purpose of the Stormwater Ordinance is “to protect, maintain, and enhance water quality and the environment of Lexington County and the short- and long-term public health, safety, and general welfare of the citizens of Lexington County and minimize property damage by establishing requirements and procedures to control the potential adverse effects of increased stormwater runoff and related pollutant loads associated with both future development (including re-development) and existing developed land.”

Sec. 3-2 of the Stormwater Ordinance provides that “No person shall (1) develop any land ...or (5) otherwise promote and/or allow the transport of sediment or other pollutants associated with stormwater runoff beyond property boundaries without have provided for compliance with this Ordinance and all other applicable State and Federal regulations.”

Sec. 3-4 of the Stormwater Ordinance requires that all land-disturbance activities be proceeded by the submittal and approval of a Land Disturbance Permit Application.

Sec. 6-3(a) of the Stormwater Ordinance authorizes the Director of Public Works to “issue a stop work order if it is found that a land-disturbance activity is being conducted in violation of this Ordinance.”

Sec. 3.2 of the Stormwater Ordinance exempts three categories of land disturbance activities: (a) land disturbance activities undertaken on forestland for the production and harvesting of timber and timber products conducted in accordance with best management practices and minimum erosion protection measures established by the South Carolina Forestry Commission; (b) agricultural land disturbances that disturb less than one acre; and (c) agricultural land disturbing activities that disturb more than one acre and do not create new impervious surfaces.

Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Respondent, sufficient evidence existed to so show that the Stormwater Ordinance applied. First, Mr. Lee, who was an expert hired by Appellants, when questioned about the Stormwater Ordinance, testified that Appellants had failed to obtain the proper permits. R. p. 1327. Second, Mr. Corder, who worked for Lexington County, testified that he observed impervious surfaces and disturbed land, which would place the Appellants’ property within the context of the Stormwater Ordinance. R. p. 301, line 21 - p. 302, line 2. Third, there was some confusion

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